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	1947 Camp List

	294(G.W.C.)
	Fisher’s Camp, Alton, Hampshire
	S
	Priswar Alton
	Alton 3231
	Alton
	Major E.R.C.Warrens D.S.O.
	v/1452/2
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	OS NGR
	Sheet
	No.
	Name & Location
	County
	Cond’n
	Type 1945
	Comments

	SU 683 391
	185
	294
	Fisher's Camp, Theddon Grange, Alton
	Hampshire
	5
	German
Working Camp
	Precise location not identified, NGR
given for Theddon Grange.



	Location: Fishers Camp and Thedden Grange were two separate camps. They were linked in the English Heritage entry above as they were unaware of the location of the main camp.

Fishers Camp NGR SU 731 407, was just off the A31 London Road.

The 1947 contemporary listing has Fishers as the main camp. However, I have seen pow mail from 1946 using the Thedden Grange address. 

My guess is that the HQ camp was Thedden Grange, then, as this site was de-requisitioned, the HQ moved to Fisher’s Camp.

Before the camp: 

Thedden Grange – Country house and estate.
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	Ordnance Survey 1939
	Ordnance Survey 1961



Fishers camp – large house and grounds. Recorded as a barracks in rates book by 1941. Became No.4 Military Prison and Detention Barracks for Canadian troops as an annexe to ‘No.1 Canadian Detention barracks’ at Headley Downs, Hampshire. There was an escape by two Canadian pows from here in February 1946.

Pow Camp (s): 

Thedden Grange – Nissen huts in the grounds.


Fishers Camp – as the site was a detention barracks up to early 1946, the pow camp is likely to have opened as a pow camp later in that year when the Canadian prisoners were sent home.

The camp buildings were listed as; 26 Nissen Huts – Kitchen (cookhouse and bakehouse), 2 linked huts used as a sick bay, Recreation room, Showers, Drying Room, 2 Messing Huts, Theatre, (1949 list when the site was being inspected for use as emergency accommodation).

Received pows returning from the US in late 1946 who expected to be returned home to Germany.
“German prisoners of war were interned at Fishers Camp in Holybourne. When they were allowed to mix with local folk, they made many friends and some of them returned after the war to visit those who had befriended them in their time of trial.” (The Story of Alton - C W Hawkins - Alton Urban Council - 1973).

[image: ]When Fishers Camp was closing, the pows applied to hire the hall at Alton to put on a concert for the community on 12 October 1947. The application was refused by the local council – possibly because the proposed date was a Sunday. However, it seems a concert did take place, perhaps on a different day. The following details were given in an account of two Quakers who visited the camp and travelled to Germany in 1950 to visit some of the ex-pows:

“…the Hope Gills were renewing friendships they had made at Fishers Camp – from where the Germans, as it was closed down, had hired the largest hall in Alton and given a splendid concert to the local people. The two Quakers visited the camp leader, Kurt Meinel, and the chaplain, Pastor Becker.” (Thresholds of Peace – Matthew B Sullivan – Hamish Hamilton – 1979).

There was a camp magazine – Der Spiegel (The Mirror).
In February 1948, council records show that considerations were made to use the huts at both Theddden Grange and Fisher’s for emergency accommodation. It seems likely therefore that both sites were closed in late 1947.
After the camp: Fishers Camp was used for emergency housing for a short time - the Holybourne Theatre was later built on the site.
Further Information:
National Archives FO 1120/244 – Re-educational survey visit reports for camps 294 to 298. Dated 1 January 1946 – 31 December 1948.
IWM have a copy of the magazine dated March 1947. Ref LBY E.J. 417
The National Portrait Gallery have a photograph of Commandant E R C Warrens taken in 1936 by Bassano Ltd





Cuckoo’s Corner Hostel

	Cuckoo’s Corner, NGR SU 741 412 top right of map (Fishers Camp is shown as ‘Holybourne Brewery’ on this map, bottom left.

Used as a military camp from 1939 – Pow hostel by 1944.

Rateable assessment no. 2048, occupier Ministry of Works, P.of W.Camp at Cuckoos Corner, RV £30. Listed for half years ending 30 Sep.,1944 and 31March 1945, in the unsewered area.

Memories – four or five huts with the guards in the hut nearest to the road.
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